#### No. 45465-3-II

## WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

In the Guardianship of KEIKO DECKER, an alleged Incapacitated Person:

DANIEL F. QUICK, Former Attorney for Keiko Decker,

Appellant,

v.

STEPHEN J. DeVOGHT, Guardian ad Litem, and DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

DANIEL QUICK'S OPENING BRIEF Amended

> Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 Attorney for Appellant

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 (206) 622-8020

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION.

This case focuses on the right of an "alleged incompetent person" ("AIP") to resist a proposed guardianship via a personally engaged, statutory "independent attorney," who is charged by statute with following her express instructions, here to aggressively resist the guardianship proceedings; and, further, to pay for that representation from her existing, ample assets, not public funds.

At issue is whether the superior court has the authority to limit the amount or type of work done by an independent attorney either directly or indirectly by reducing the fees paid for following the AIP's instructions, particularly where the AIP has the resources to pay for the legal services. Reversal is required because this issue was settled a decade ago by *In re Guardianship of Beecher*, 130 Wn. App. 66, 121 P.3d 743 (2005), which held the trial court does not have authority to restrict the work of, or payment to, the independent attorney for the AIP.

A second issue arises only *if* the trial court has any authority to control the fees paid to the independent attorney: Must the trial court follow the *Mahler* requirements for lodestar analysis and specific findings of fact and conclusions of law when determining the amount of fees to be paid? Reversal is required because the trial court failed to engage in any analysis of the reasonableness of the fees incurred or to make any findings, instead picking a figure out of thin air and requiring disgorgement of most of the fees.

Finally, the appeal raises the issue of whether Respondents, rather than Mrs. Decker's estate, should bear the cost they choose to incur on appeal by not stipulating to vacate the fee order once confronted with the settled law on these two issues, which require reversal.

The fee issue will be set out first to reinforce from the outset that the fee orders must be vacated and the matter remanded, even if the trial court has some authority to address any of Mr. Quick's fees.

# II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR & ISSUES ON APPEAL.

## A. Assignments of Error.

- 1. The trial court erred in entering the August 7, 2013, and September 6, 2013, orders reducing Mr. Quick's fees and costs to \$30,000 for two years' work as directed by Mrs. Decker, the *alleged* incapacitated person.
- 2. The trial court erred in requiring Mrs. Decker's independent attorney to disgorge funds he been paid for work done at her direction and which had been paid by her.
- 3. Assuming it had the legal authority to determine any of an independent attorney's fees paid by an *alleged* incompetent person, the trial court erred in its determination of a reasonable amount of the legal fees by failing to use a lodestar or any comparable analysis, and by also failing to make findings and conclusions that would permit meaningful appellate review.

## B. Issues on Appeal.

- 1. Under the guardianship statutes, the trial court lacks authority to control the financial decisions of an *alleged* incompetent person who resists the guardianship during the pendency of a guardianship proceeding unless and until there is an adjudication that the person is incompetent. In accord with due process, the statutory scheme specifically provides that the *alleged* incompetent person is entitled to an independent attorney and that the attorney is to take direction from that person, as opposed to imposing the attorney's own view, or the view of a Guardian ad Litem, of what they deem to be in the best interests of the AIP. In this case, the alleged incompetent person had substantial assets and instructed her personally-retained attorney to fight the guardianship aggressively. Under these circumstances, must the appellate court vacate the trial court's order purporting to determine and drastically reduce the fees paid by the *alleged* incompetent person to her chosen attorney for following his client's instructions; and which order also required disgorgement of the majority of the fees already paid by the alleged incompetent person for the attorney to resist the guardianship?
- 2. Is vacation required of the trial court's order which purported to determine and dramatically reduce the amount of fees paid by the *allegedly* incompetent person to an independent attorney appointed under RCW 11.88.045 under the plain terms of the statute, basic principles of guardianships and due process, and *In re*

Guardianship of Beecher, 130 Wn. App. 66, 121 P.3d 743 (2005), and/or because the independent attorney was also separately retained by the *allegedly* incompetent person?

- 3. Assuming the trial court had the authority to review and determine the reasonable fees that could be paid to the independent attorney by an *alleged* incompetent person before a guardianship was in effect when the attorney followed that person's directions when incurring the fees, must the order related to the fees be vacated because the trial court did not engage in a lodestar or any analysis to determine the reasonable amount of fees allowed for the work performed, as demonstrated in older guardianship decisions such as *In re Guardianship of Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. 795, 799-801,723 P.2d 1161 (1986), and/or because the trial court failed to make specific findings and conclusions supporting its fees determination, as is required by *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 433-35, 957 P.2d 632 (1998) and its progeny, and which are required to permit meaningful appellate review?
- 4. Should the appellate court rule that any fees for work spent defending against this appeal incurred by DSHS's department of Adult Protective Services and/or the Limited Guardian must be paid by Adult Protective Services and/or the Limited Guardian and not by the guardianship estate of Mrs. Decker, where the appeal had to continue despite the fact Respondents were confronted with the settled law on the trial court's lack of authority to control the work

and fees incurred by a statutory independent, privately engaged, attorney of an AIP, and the settled law that fee awards must have sufficiently specific findings and conclusions to permit meaningful appellate review, and that they should pay Mr. Quick's fees on appeal?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

#### A. Overview Facts.

Keiko Decker married Wilson Decker in 1964, who later retired from the Air Force as a Colonel, and who died on October 22, 2009, after 45 years of marriage. CP 145; CP 189 ¶7. They did not have any children or close relatives. *Id*; CP 97 (interim report of Limited Guardian). On his death Mrs. Decker came into possession of a substantial estate of over \$700,000 in addition to receipt of Col. Decker's pension and social security benefits as his widow. CP 14. Mrs. Decker is of Japanese descent, which was one reason Mr. Quick was chosen for her independent attorney, since he spoke some Japanese in addition to being substantively qualified in terms of his legal practice and experience. *See* CP 27 (verified petition to appoint attorney); 29-31 (Mr. Quick's statement of qualifications). He also was approached because Mrs. Decker made known immediately she did not want a guardianship controlling her and refused to meet with the GAL. CP 27-28.

B. Initial Guardianship Proceedings and Appointment of Mr. Quick as Mrs. Decker's Independent Attorney Because of Mrs. Decker's Continued Resistance to the GAL's Suggestions She Needed Someone to Manage Her and Her Affairs.

A petition for guardianship was filed by Adult Protective Services ("APS") on February 23, 2011, alleging that Mrs. Decker had been diagnosed with dementia, "had been exhibiting paranoid behavior," and "appears to have been financially exploited, "CP 13, 15 ¶ 1 (Petition), allegedly for paying "more than \$60,000 for landscaping and concrete work that appeared to be defective work." CP 18 (Partington Declaration). The Petition stated that "APS is concerned that Mrs. Decker is also at risk of being financially exploited in the future due to her vulnerability." CP 15. Petition requested guardianship of both Mrs. Decker's person and her estate, CP 15 ¶ 3, alleging that her dementia meant she needed help making "personal, medical, and financial decisions," and further alleging that "her cognitive impairments are moderate to severe." CP 16 ¶ 1.1 The Petition requested a Guardian Ad Litem ("GAL") from the court registry, with the GAL's fees paid from her estate "as authorized by the court." CP 16 ¶¶ 3, 2.

The supporting declaration noted that Mrs. Decker was 78 and was said by her physician to have dementia and paranoia that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See CP 18-20, supporting declaration of Robin Partington describing Mrs. Decker's resistance to having help manage her affairs and to giving someone her power of attorney, and also as to her desire to have an attorney "to protect her life." CP 19, ¶ 4.

required her to have assistance from a guardian; however, while Mrs. Decker "admits she is having difficulty with her memory and managing her affairs and finances," nevertheless, "she refuses or is resistant to assistance." CP 18-19,  $\P$  3. Mr. Stephen DeVoght was appointed as the GAL on February 23 from the court registry to be paid at private expense. See CP 21 – 26 (order appointing GAL); CP 22,  $\P$  3 (appointment "shall be . . . at private expense").

The GAL encountered continued resistance from Mrs. Decker so that, by June 22, 2011, he filed a petition to appoint an attorney for her, nominating Mr. Quick because of his knowledge and experience in guardianship and estate matters, and because he spoke some Japanese and was familiar with Japanese culture. CP 27-28 (petition) & CP 29-31 (Mr. Quick's statement of qualifications). The same day the petition was filed, the court entered an order appointing Mr. Quick as "independent legal counsel for Keiko Decker to be paid at private expense" pursuant to RCW 11.88.045.

The GAL's petition stated at CP 27 (bold in original):
The Alleged Incapacitated Person has not cooperated with the GAL in the investigation and has, to date, refused to meet with him. The GAL believed

investigation and has, to date, refused to meet with him. The GAL believes that it is in the best interest of the AIP that the Court appoints [sic] an attorney to represent her in this guardianship action. The GAL further believes that it is in the best interest of the AIP to be represented by an attorney that speaks Japanese and is familiar with Japanese culture, and is not aware of attorney's [sic] on the Pierce County registry with those qualifications. A copy of Daniel F. Quick's qualifications is attached at **Exhibit A**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RCW 11.88.045(b) states as follows (emphasis added):
Counsel for an alleged incapacitated individual shall act as an advocate for the client and shall not substitute counsel's own judgment for that

CP 32-33. The order provided that Mr. Quick was given "10 hours of authority to represent Mrs. Decker" and that "Independent counsel shall not spend more than 10 hours representing Ms. Decker without prior court approval," CP 32. These limitations were at odds with the express duty under the statute for independent counsel to follow the client's, not the GAL's or the Court's, directions; were at odds with the fact Mrs. Decker had not been declared incompetent to manage her affairs; and at odds with her determination and right to fight the guardianship.

As detailed *infra*, Mr. Quick followed Mrs. Decker's instructions to resist the guardianship proceedings. *See* CP 76 (summary of efforts to resist the set out in her August, 2012, motion to dismiss the guardianship). CP 148-49; 151-52; 189 ¶ 9. On October 20, 2011, Mrs. Decker formally hired Mr. Quick as her personal, independent attorney to fight the guardianship, separate from his appointment by the Court. CP 158-59 (fee agreement); CP 189 ¶ 6 (Quick declaration). She also confirmed on October 20<sup>th</sup> with written instructions that she wanted to oppose the guardianship and that she was willing to go to trial to resist it. CP 167 (written direction); CO 189 ¶8. On December 20, 2011, Mrs. Decker

of the client on the subject of what may be in the client's best interests. Counsel's role shall be distinct from that of the guardian ad litem, who is expected to promote the best interest of the alleged incapacitated individual, rather than the alleged incapacitated individual's expressed preferences.

appointed Mr. Quick as her attorney-in-fact by naming him in her durable power of attorney. CP 76.

C. The GAL's 2011 and 2012 Reports of Mrs. Decker's Continued Resistance to a Guardianship and the GAL's Request For Appointment of a Limited Guardian.

The GAL filed an interim report on September 29, 2011, seeking additional authority for payment as the ten hours initially allotted for his work was nearly used up. *See* CP 34-37 (interim report and attachments). The GAL noted Mrs. Decker's continued resistance to the guardianship:

Ms. Decker has adamantly opposed guardianship from my first contact with her, via telephone, on March 16, 2011. . . .

Ms. Decker has always been cordial with me, but initial attempts to meet with her in person were rebuffed because of her opposition to the guardianship and her belief that she had "cancelled" the guardianship. On August 4, 2011, her appointed counsel arranged a meeting during which she was cooperative and allowed me to review financial information as requested; in a follow-up visit September 14, 2011, she agreed to visit her doctor for the purpose of an updated medical report.

GAL's Interim Report (9/29/11), CP 34.

Mrs. Decker continued to resist the guardianship in any form, now with the help of her attorney Mr. Quick. She served discovery requests on APS in April, 2012, which were not answered, and tried to schedule the deposition of its social worker Ms. Partington, which APS refused to schedule. *See* CP 76-77.

On May 9, 2012, the GAL filed a report which recommended the appointment of Joyce Richards as a limited guardian of Mrs. Decker's person and estate, and that Mrs. Decker retain the right to vote. CP 38-40. The report noted that

There may be a reasonable alternative to guardianship, but I believe it would need to have substantial court oversight and would need to ensure there is proper legal authority that would be recognized by the Social Security Administration and the Department of Veteran's Affairs for financial purposes. My understanding is that Powers of Attorney are often not recognized by these organizations and can lead to substantial delay and costs if there are financial needs to be addressed.

Ms. Decker executed a durable power of attorney on December 21, 2011 which named her appointed counsel, Daniel Quick, as attorney-in-fact[.] I have made recommendations in this report regarding assistance I feel that Ms. Decker should have with her finances and health that have not been addressed at this time. . . .

It is my recommendation that any alternative to guardianship that may be fashioned, address the items above, and specify actions that will be taken in the event Ms. Decker cannot participate in decisions affecting her estate and/or health[.]

GAL Report (5/09/12), pp. 12-13, CP 39-40.

The May, 2012 GAL report recommended setting a bond and blocking access to assets. CP 42. It also made the following recommendation as to Mr. Quick:

I recommend that Keiko Decker continue to retain Daniel Quick as her attorney she wants to; there is an established relationship, and the medical report indicates that she requires trusted legal counsel to adequately understand legal matters.

CP 42, ¶ 17. This shows the GAL recognized both that Mrs. Decker had trust in Mr. Quick and that his role was necessary for practical reasons. Finally, the GAL's report recommended that he, the GAL, not be involved in future proceedings unless requested by Mrs.

Decker, her attorney or the court. CP 43.

D. The APS's Motion to Dismiss the Guardianship Because Mrs. Decker Had Improved and a Guardianship was No Longer Needed And, Instead, to Appoint a New Attorney-in-Fact For Mrs. Decker, Followed by Mrs. Decker's Motion to Dismiss For APS' Failure to Prosecute, Both of Which Were Denied.

One month later on June 8, 2012, APS filed a motion to dismiss the guardianship and for the appointment of a new attorney-in-fact for Mrs. Decker, Glenda Voller.  $CP\ 44-51$ . The motion stated the basic reason for dismissing the guardianship was Mrs. Decker had improved so that a guardianship was not needed:

Although at the time the petition was filed, the Department had good cause to believe that Ms. Decker lacked capacity and was in the need of a guardian, the Department believes that Ms. Decker has regained sufficient capacity, no longer needs a guardian, and may receive adequate protection and assistance through a less restrictive alternative.

APS Motion to Dismiss Guardianship, CP 44-45 (emphasis added). The motion recounts the results from a neuropsychological examination report of February 10, 2012. After noting signs of

cognitive impairment and questionable judgment on management of some health problems, the summary of it concludes:

The report also indicates that Ms. Decker agrees there was a period of time after her husband's death that she was not functioning well, including not eating, and was quite depressed. *Id.* at 1. However, Ms. Decker denies any current cognitive impairment and <u>contends that her healthcare</u> <u>providers confused profound grief for dementia.</u>

APS Motion to Dismiss Guardianship, CP 46 (emphasis added).

Mrs. Decker, through her private counsel, opposed the APS's motion because she believed that, despite its title, rather than actually dismissing the proceedings the proposed motion would force her, "over her objection" and under the guise of a "less restrictive alternative" to accept a change to her chosen attorney-infact named in her durable power of attorney, a document which, it noted, "is a wholly revocable document by Ms. Decker." CP 52.

The apparent point of APS's effort was to replace Mr. Quick as Mrs. Decker's attorney-in-fact, which would remove Mrs. Decker from personally giving directions to Mr. Quick. It would, thus, excise from the proceedings the independent counsel who was acting at Mrs. Decker's personal express behest to which she was entitled under RCW 11.88.045 and the constitutions, as opposed to some third party's notion of what is in her best interest. *See* Mrs. Decker's opposition, CP 52 – 59.

On June 18, 2012, after receipt of the APS's reply (CP 60-66), the court denied the motion and all requested relief. CP 67-68.

Mrs. Decker then proceeded with her own motion to dismiss, alleging "want of prosecution, inexcusable neglect, and delay." CP 75. She complained that she had "fully participated and paid for two sets of extensive medical examinations and without any resolution in sight." CP 76. She noted that APS had "refused to provide answers to interrogatories" and failed to provide responses to other discovery requests. CP 76-77. Her motion also was denied. CP 82-83. *See* CP 190 ¶ 12 (Quick declaration).

E. Mr. Quick's Continued Representation of Mrs. Decker as She Directed Him to Resist the Proposed Guardianship and the Resulting Agreed Order for a Limited Guardianship on May 7, 2013.

As the GAL's reports reflect, Mrs. Decker was adamantly opposed to the guardianship from the first indication one was sought. Once she had obtained her own attorney in Mr. Quick who would represent her and do what **she** wanted, as the statute and the constitutions require, she had him take all measures to stop the guardianship and get it dismissed. As a result, Mr. Quick demanded a jury for the hearing on her competence and engaged in discovery and motion practice to follow her instructions. CP 148-150; 189-191. As the trial court docket, petition for fees, and Mr. Quick's billings (CP 194 – 242) reflect, this took substantial time and effort because of the position taken by Adult Protective Services that she required a guardian, which it modified only when it decided to seek a different attorney-in-fact to make decisions for Mrs. Decker rather

than go through with the guardianship and provide the requested discovery, as well as the fact that Mrs. Decker primarily spoke Japanese. Nevertheless, and as required by both the statute and his fee agreement with Mrs. Decker, Mr. Quick followed Mrs. Decker's express instructions and continued to try to prepare for trial, including obtaining the delayed discovery and other trial preparation and motions, all with the goal of defeating the guardianship. *See* CP 147-50.

Nevertheless, on the eve of trial, but without a trial or evidentiary hearing, Mrs. Decker acquiesced in a limited guardianship which was predicated on the limited guardian being her tax preparer for several years, Mr. Maurice E. Laufer. *See* CP 84-96 (Agreed Order); CP 190, ¶13 (Quick Declaration describing settlement of the case and agreement on Mr. Laufer); CP 97-98 (Limited Guardian's July 30, 2013 interim report). The Agreed Order provided that Mr. Quick's legal fees were reserved, and he could petition "for additional fees and costs up until the 90 day hearing." CP 95.

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