FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II  
2014 JUL 25 PM 3:32  
COURT REPORTER  
[Signature]

No. 45465-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

In re the Guardianship of:  
  
KEIKO DECKER.  
  
An Incapacitated Person.

---

GUARDIAN MAURICE LAUFER'S RESPONSE BRIEF

---

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP  
Margaret Y. Archer, WSBA No. 21224  
Eileen S. Peterson, WSBA No. 17405  
Attorneys for Maurice Laufer, Guardian

Suite 2100  
1201 Pacific Avenue  
Tacoma, WA 98401-1157  
(253) 620-6500

**

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

---

<sup>11</sup> Quick's invoices reveal that he charged and received payment from Decker a total of \$8,600 for contract attorney fees paid to Thiel Keaton. (CP 212, 214, 226.)

<sup>12</sup> Quick's invoices reveal that \$13,562 (52.26 hours) was charged to Decker to prepare and present the fee petition to the Commissioner. (CP 243-45.)

AG's office, was entered on June 22, 2011; this order appointed Mr. Quick as counsel and gave him 10 hours of authority at the rate of \$250/hr to represent Ms. Decker. *Exhibit A*. The second order was entered by agreement on July 29, 2011 and gave Mr. Quick an additional 40 hours of authority at the rate of \$250/hr. *Exhibit B*. Both orders include language that mandates prior court approval before exceeding the authority granted.

My review of the pleadings in this matter did not reveal any declarations regarding fees for representation of Ms. Decker (prior to the one filed July 30, 2013), or any requests for, or orders authorizing, payment of fees for the representation of Ms. Decker.

The Declaration of Daniel Quick filed July 30, 2013 addresses the issue of fees and includes, as an exhibit, the fee statement for his representation of Ms. Decker. He does not address the limits of authority or lack of prior authorization for additional authority. Likewise, there is no explanation why payments were made, and received, without court approval.

(CP 515.) The GAL concluded:

My role as GAL in this matter was to look out for Ms. Decker's best interest. It was clear to me that she did not understand the guardianship process and could not process much of my explanations. I thought it was in her best interests to have counsel appointed and Mr. Quick agreed that he was qualified and willing to act in that capacity. He worked diligently to promote Ms. Decker's stated preferences, but failed to follow court orders which mandate that he get prior approval of the court for additional authority (hours) to represent her. My understanding of RCW 11.88 is that it is meant to preserve the AIP's rights as well as protect the AIP's assets. By disregarding the court order of July 29, 2011 [Agreed Fee] Order, which he drafted, Mr. Quick took oversight of Ms. Decker's assets out of the hands

of the court. He also began billing her for his services, and accepting payments, without leave of the court which also seriously undermines the protections of RCW 11.88. Had the proper procedures been followed throughout this case: fees would not be at issues to the degree they are; Mr. Quick would not have to spend 60+ hours to try and get his fees approved; and the court would have had the opportunity to monitor the time and fees in advance. (Emphasis added.)

(CP 518-519.)

Commissioner Dicke, the same Commissioner that heard both motions to dismiss and entered the Agreed Guardianship Order heard Quick's petition for fee approval. (CP 399.) The Commissioner shared the same concerns expressed by the GAL and admonished Quick:

Regardless of the contract, you still are under a court order to do only a certain amount of work without further court authority. So you kind of took your own risk in that regard, because the court is always mindful of maintaining a substantial amount, try to limit litigation costs and keep as much money available for the alleged incapacitated person.

And that's why we put limits, because we want to have some oversight.

(CP 350-351.) (The transcript of proceeding is attached as Appendix D.)

In light of the prior court orders (CP 32-33, 422-23), the Commissioner could have limited Quick's fee to \$12,500. She did not. Instead the Commissioner considered the petition and the record to determine a just and reasonable fee. The appropriate hourly rate was previously set by the court at \$250 when Quick was appointed (CP 32-33;

*see also* CP 422-23), so the Commissioner was not required to determine a reasonable rate on Quick's petition. The question was the time spent and the total fee. Commissioner Dicke held that Quick's fees were excessive:

\$100,000 plus is not reasonable in this kind of matter. No matter how hard or difficult Ms. Decker is, no matter how much of a defense she wants, you still have to be mindful of, you know, what kind of context this is. So, you know, I don't know what to say. You're authorized from (inaudible) calculation is like \$12,500 is what the court okayed.

Now, I think that given the difficulty and the fact that ultimately some additional funds over and above what was initially authorized makes sense, but nowhere near the 110 that you've already, I guess, received.

I have to agree, it is somewhat unusual in the context of someone that's being brought before the court for concerns about exploitation to be receiving funds without the court's blessing.

\* \* \*

Well, my inclination is, you know, and this even compared to other cases that I have is a pretty generous ruling, . . . but given the difficulty, I'd be inclined to order \$30,000.

(CP 367-68.) The court further ordered that payments made to Quick in excess of the court-approved fee must be reimbursed to Decker. (CP 331.)

Quick moved to revise Commissioner Dicke's order (CP 334-37), but the motion was denied by Judge Jack Nevin (CP 381-82.) Quick appealed. (CP 383-91.) Following an Interim Report by the Guardian which informed the court of Quick's appeal (CP 397-98), the court ordered the Guardian to defend the appeal (CP 416-17.)

## IV. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

The court's legal authority to review and reduce the fees Quick charged to and collected from Decker presents a question of law which is reviewed de novo. *In re Guardianship of Matthews, supra*, 156 Wn. App. at 201. The Commissioner's determination of a just and reasonable fee is reviewable for abuse of discretion. A court abuses its discretion "when its decision or order is manifestly unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds, or exercised for untenable reasons." *In re Guardianship of Lamb, supra*, 173 Wn.2d at 189. "A decision is based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons if it rests on facts unsupported by the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard." *Id.*

### B. The Court Has Authority To Review And Reduce Quick's Fees.

#### 1. *Beecher* does not apply to this matter in which Keiko Decker is adjudicated to be incapacitated.

Quick relies upon *Beecher, supra*, to argue that no court has authority to review the fees incurred defending Decker in the guardianship proceeding. Division I's decision in *Beecher* does not apply to this case.<sup>13</sup>

Significantly, in *Beecher* and unlike here, there was never an

---

<sup>13</sup> The Guardian agrees and joins with the Department's argument that *Beecher* was wrongly decided and is not binding on this Court. (See Department's Brief at pp. 16-22.)

adjudication of incapacity. 130 Wn. App. at 68. Beecher's attorney, Watson Blair, had previously represented Beecher on other matters over the prior two years and was selected by Beecher to defend her in the guardianship proceeding initiated by her stepson. *Id.* Beecher's contract with Blair was separately reviewed and approved by Beecher's independent attorneys-in-fact (Peter and Evelyn Kirton) and the contract affirmatively stated:

You have told me that you desire to resist and to defend against a guardianship aggressively and "at all costs." I will keep you abreast of the costs and will advise you of your options from time to time. The costs of an adversarial proceeding can be extremely high. We strongly recommend that you review and reconsider the strategy with some regularity and with an eye on the projected costs.

*Id.* at 69. While Blair was appointed by the court as required by RCW 11.88.045(2), *id.* at 69, n. 1, it appears the order did not require prior court approval of fees.

After several motions were presented to the court commissioner, the commissioner ordered all parties to present their fees for review and approval. Neither Beecher nor his attorneys-in-fact disputed the fees. *Id.* at 69. The commissioner held that Blair's fees were subject to review under RCW 11.88.045 and, further, determined that the fees were unreasonable and inappropriate. *Id.* at 69-70. Ultimately, following an agreement of the

parties, the petition was dismissed without an adjudication of incapacity and without appointment of a guardian. *Id.* at 70. The court entered judgment in favor of Blair in the amount \$33,292.44, plus interest, since, unlike here, Blair did not collect payment without court review. *Id.*

Blair appealed. He argued that “the trial court did not have authority to review his fees because Beecher had a valid durable power of attorney in place, she and her attorneys-in-fact approved Blair’s fees and, most importantly, she was never adjudicated incapacitated.” *Id.* at 70.

Under the circumstances presented in that case, the *Beecher* court held:

Since RCW 11.88.045 incorporates the guardian fee review provisions, a court’s statutory review of an AIP’s attorney’s fees must also be limited to situations where there has been a determination that the AIP is in fact incapacitated. Until that time, she has the same autonomy and rights as any other person. As Beecher was never adjudicated to be an incapacitated person, the guardianship statute did not provide a basis on which the trial court could review Blair’s fees. (Emphasis added.)

*Id.* at 72. The court further noted that Beecher was adequately protected:

She chose Blair, an attorney with whom she was familiar from his previous work on her behalf. He provided a detailed contract stating his hourly rate and warning of the potential for high costs inherent in Beecher’s litigious approach to defending her autonomy. Beecher and her attorneys-in-fact approved. Since Beecher never lost her capacity to contract, there was no basis on which to invalidate her contract with Blair.

*Id.* at 73.



The situation presented here is vastly different. Unlike in *Beecher*, (1) there was no oversight by an independent attorney-in-fact; (2) the power of attorney Decker granted Quick in December 2011 was voided due to questions of her capacity at the time she signed; (3) approval of Quick's fee agreement was reserved but never granted; (4) Quick did not disclose to the court or the GAL that he later obtained, on October 20, 2011, Decker's signature on the fee agreement; (5) Quick obtained payments from Decker's estate without notice and without court oversight; and, most importantly, (6) Decker was adjudicated to be incapacitated. The trial court retained jurisdiction under RCW 11.88.045 to review the fees charged to Decker and properly exercised its authority when it reduced Quick's fees.

**2. Even if *Beecher* applied, it does not bar court review of Quick's fee because he consented to a court order authorizing review.**

Even if *Beecher* could be construed to generally apply to proceedings ending in adjudication of incapacity, it still has no application here since Quick voluntarily submitted to binding court review of his fees.

From the time Quick was appointed, the terms of his representation, including the terms for compensation, were established by court order. The June 22, 2011 Initial Fee Order provided:

[I]ndependent legal counsel shall be paid at private

expense, with fees for representation subject to approval pursuant to RCW 11.92.180 and SPR 98.12. Legal counsel for Keiko Decker shall bill at a rate of \$250 per hour, and shall have 10 hours of authority to represent Ms. Decker. Independent counsel shall not spend more than 10 hours representing Ms. Decker without prior court approval. (Emphasis added.)

(Appendix A - CP 32-33.)

With regard to this Initial Fee Order, Quick now states:

The order provided Mr. Quick was given “10 hours of authority to represent Mrs. Decker” and that “Independent counsel shall not spend more than 10 hours representing Ms. Decker without prior approval,” CP 32. These limitations were at odds with the express duty under the statute for independent counsel to follow the client’s, not the GAL’s or the Court’s, directions; were at odds with the fact that Mrs. Decker had not been declared incompetent to manage her affairs; and at odds with her determination and right to fight the guardianship.

(Quick Brief at p. 8.) However, Quick, who holds himself out as experienced in guardianship law, did not object to (or even express concern regarding) the limitation on hours and requirement for advance court approval when the Initial Fee Order was entered. To the contrary, only one month later, Quick himself prepared the Agreed Fee Order which confirmed the requirement for prior court approval of hours and fees.

Quick presented the Agreed Fee Order on July 29, 2011.<sup>14</sup> By this

---

<sup>14</sup> That Quick prepared the Agreed Fee Order is further verified by Quick’s time records. Those records reveal that Quick and his paralegal collectively spent 5.6 hours preparing

time, Quick had met with Decker and assessed the requirements for her defense.<sup>15</sup> The Agreed Fee Order included the following Stipulation signed by Quick, counsel for APS and the GAL:

1. The alleged incapacitated person wishes to vigorously contest the guardianship hearing and needs counsel to prepare that defense;
2. By Court Order dated June 22, 2011, Daniel F. Quick was appointed independent legal counsel for the AIP, Keiko Decker and
3. Under the Court Order dated June 22, 2011, Daniel F. Quick needs further authority from the Court for an additional 40 hours to prepare for the final guardianship hearing/trial and/or to negotiate a lesser restrictive alternative to the guardianship. (Emphasis added.)

(CP 422.) Based on the Stipulation, the Court accepted and entered the Agreed Fee Order providing:

1. Daniel F. Quick ... is appointed to continue as independent legal counsel for Keiko Decker under the Court Order June 22, 2011, and shall be authorized to spend an additional forty (40) hours for work on this matter on behalf of the AIP, Keiko Decker;
2. Independent legal counsel shall be paid at private expense, with fees for representation **subject to the**

---

the Agreed Fee Order and traveling to Pierce County to have the Agreed Fee Order entered ex parte. (CP 195.)

<sup>15</sup> Quick's time records reveal that prior to preparing the Agreed Fee Order, he talked to Decker on the phone on June 27, 2011 and that he and his paralegal both spent 4 hours meeting with Decker on June 29, 2011. (CP 194.) Quick had also had the opportunity to discuss with counsel for APS the "case, procedural hearing and lesser restrictive alternatives." (CP 195.)

**Court's approval pursuant to RCW 11.92.180 and SPR 98.12.** Legal counsel for Keiko Decker shall bill at the rate of \$250 per hour, and shall have further forty (40) hours of authority to represent Ms. Decker;

3. **Independent legal counsel shall not spend more than forty (40) hours representing Ms. Decker without prior court approval.** (Emphasis added.)

(CP 423-24.) The Initial Fee Order and the Agreed Fee Order set the terms for Quick's representation.

Though Quick now criticizes the Initial Fee Order (he completely omits the Agreed Fee Order), he did not argue to the Commissioner or to the Judge on revision that the order illegally constrained his representation. Indeed, Quick would not have submitted his fee petition if he believed court approval was not required. Notably Quick did not include the Initial Fee Order in his Notice of Appeal (CP 383-91) or challenge it in his Assignments of Error. Quick's attempt to now unilaterally change the terms of his representation through this belated challenge to court review is not well taken.

Quick voluntarily submitted to, and through the Agreed Fee Order even invoked the court's jurisdiction and authority over his fees.<sup>16</sup> Quick

---

<sup>16</sup>As noted earlier, Quick also petitioned the court in August 2011 for approval of a proposed fee agreement between himself and Decker, which at that time was unsigned. (CP 428-445.) Quick noted his petition for hearing (CP 427), voluntarily deferred consideration of his petition and the court expressly reserved ruling on the presented fee agreement. (CP 453; *see also* 451-52.) No further authorization for fees was entered.

did not argue to the trial court that the court was without authority to review his fees. Certainly *Beecher* was not cited to either Commissioner Dicke or Judge Nevin. The argument is raised for the first time on appeal.

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